Δελτίον της Χριστιανικής Αρχαιολογικής Εταιρείας

Τομ. 27, 2006

Συριακές, παλαιολόγειες και γοτθικές τοιχογραφίες στον «νεστοριανό» ναό της Αμμοχώτου

BACCI Michele University of Siena
http://dx.doi.org/10.12681/dchae.483

Copyright © 2006

To cite this article:

Syrian, Palaiologan, and Gothic Murals in the “Nestorian” Church of Famagusta

Michele BACCI

Τόμος ΚΖ’ (2006) • Σελ. 207-220
ΑΘΗΝΑ 2006
A considerably large amount of murals still survives within the ruined Medieval churches of the old town of Famagusta, notwithstanding their precarious and fragmentary state. Even if they are nothing but scant remains, they deserve special consideration as they happen to be the only extant witnesses to an extraordinary phase of cultural and artistic vitality which took place in the course of the late thirteenth and fourteenth century, when the main port of the Lusignan Kingdom of Cyprus (at least up to its conquest by the Genoese in 1373) enjoyed a period of great prosperity and was supposed to be one of the richest towns in the world. Famagusta’s complex, multicultural and multiconfessional society, comprising Greeks, Latins, Syrians, Armenians, Georgians, Copts, Ethiopians, Jews, Arabs and Turks, has left a strong imprint on its architectural and artistic heritage, which proves to be characterized by the coexistence and sometimes even by the mixture of different artistic languages. The present article will focus on one of the key-monuments of the town, the so-called “Nestorian” church, whose frescoed decoration is an excellent example of such a cosmopolite character.

The literature on this building is mainly based on Camille Enlart’s analysis in his fundamental book on Gothic architecture in Cyprus, dating back to 1899. The French scholar first acknowledged that some of the frescoes preserved in its interior displayed Syriac inscriptions and considered them to be a sufficient proof to identify the church with that which, according to the Cypriot chroniclers Leonios Maiores and Diomede Strambaldi, had been built up “from the foundations” in about 1360 on the initiative of the Lakhass (or Lakanopoulos) brothers, two East Syrian, i.e. “Nestorian”, merchants (possibly from Mosul) who were much praised because of their exceptional wealth; accordingly, he pointed out that the architectural and sculptural features, reminding him of Southern French and Italian Gothic buildings, pointed to a date not much different from that indicated by the written sources and could be interpreted as a result of the journey which King Peter I had made to Avignon in 1363. Enlart’s proposal was accepted by George Jeffery and by almost all of the scholars dealing with the history of Medieval Famagusta; most recently, Joseph Yacoub...
has pointed out that this must have been the church mentioned as “Mart Maryam” in a letter written in 1581 by the East Syrian metropole of Amid to Cardinal Antonio Caraffa. The so-called “Nestorian” church looks rather unpretentious (Fig. 2). It is not such a tall building as Sts Peter and Paul or St George of the Greeks, and, even if it is made of a fine ashlar masonry, its only embellishment consists of plain and old-fashioned decorations, such as the zigzag displayed on the remnants of an archway originally delimiting the entrance to a side-building, most probably a monastic complex located to the south of the church. As was correctly remarked by Enlart, the original plan consisted only of a single-nave structure with protruding apse, whose bays were covered with simple groined vaults separated by rectangular transverse ribs (Fig. 1); in a subsequent period, when the church was extended by the addition of two aisles and minor apses, the walls of the central and eastern bay were demolished and substituted by arcades supported by square pillars, while the western bay was transformed into a kind of narthex or vestibule. The interior is lit by splayed pointed-arched windows, three in each bays of the southern side, instead of one as on the northern wall. On the exterior the original façade displays a plain portal and a round window; the latter portal of the southern aisle is more elaborate, since it is embellished not only by another cell-de-beuf, but also by marble mouldings shaping a pointed arch springing from slender colonnettes. Such a device constituted an impediment to


which would have been obsolete in the second half of the fourteenth century; more clearly, such features as the shafts of columns supporting the vaulting of the central nave and starting out of the wall in the form of a right angle, are reminiscent of the elbow-columns known from Crusader monuments in Palestine (as, for example, the church at Abu Ghosh⁴). Moreover, the use of groined, instead of ribbed vaults, supports the hypothesis of an earlier datation; such a covering is found also in the Famagustan church of the “Hospitallers” (which was recently dated back to the early fourteenth century by Jean-Baptiste de Vaivre⁵) and in the now inaccessible chapel of Saint Anne (known to have been a Maronite church)⁶.

Camille Enlart was not unaware of the fact that some of these devices contradicted his reading of the architectural features. For instance, he felt obliged to attribute the use of groined vaults to the influence of local tradition. On the other hand, he supposed that such features as the three windows on the bays of the southern wall might have been influenced by the solutions adopted in some Gothic buildings in the Veneto, and he attributed Italian origins to the chromatic effects resulting from the use of alternately red and white limestones in the vousoirs of the sanctuary arch and in the cross-shaped key-stones of the vaults. Such chromatic effects, however, were used in Italy in much a different way, i.e. they usually consisted of much more elaborate and large wall-coverings; these plain embellishments, shaping Greek crosses, seem to be better paralleled by those found in the area of the Crusader states, such as in Mar Shalhita in Tannourine Fawqa, Lebanon⁷.

The general plan of the original church has much to share with the ecclesiastical architecture of the twelfth and thirteenth century on the Syrian and Palestinian coasts. Single-nave buildings with protruding apses were standard in the Christian villages of Palestine and Syria, according to a traditional scheme found in that area since the fifth and sixth centuries; their east end was usually provided with small rooms or simple recesses within the apse wall which were used as the prothesis and diaconicon: such was probably the function of the analogous structure set between the main apse and the southern apse in the “Nestorian” church of Famagusta. The same plan was also appropriated by the Crusaders for small churches already in the twelfth century. The introduction of groined vaults was one of the major contributions of Western tradition to local architecture; even if the traditional barrel-vaulting deemed standard among the Arab Christians of the Holy Land, Romanesque types started being used for some major buildings. Such were the three-nave church of Saint Porphyrius at Bait Jibrin near Gaza, ca. 1150-1160, which was most probably built for a Melkite community, or the twelfth century Syrian Orthodox chapel of Sitti Maryam in ‘Abud⁸. To a Syriac milieu pertains also the church of Mar Saba at Eddé, Lebanon, analogously cov-

---

⁸ Pringle, op.cit., 1993, I, 216-20 (Bait Jibrin) and 18-20 (‘Abud).
ered with groined vaults supported by thick square piers. Lebanon, and more precisely its Northern area corresponding to the territory of the ancient County of Tripoli, provides the most interesting comparison. The County of Tripoli was situated on the sea-shore opposite Famagusta, and it is a well known fact that a large part of its Latin and Syrian population fled to Cyprus before and after the fall of the capital to the Mamlukes in 1289. As some recent studies have pointed out, the local Syrian Christians were inclined to draw on the repertory of Romanesque architecture represented in that area by such buildings as the Cistercian abbey of Balamand or Jbail and Beirut cathedrals. Oeil-de-bœuf and splayed ogive-shaped windows, as well as moulded archways, were frequently imitated in the village churches. Such devices are also quoted by the “Nestorian” church in Famagusta: if one compares it with the small square church of the Holy Saviour in Koubba, for example, some common features will be immediately recognized, such as the composition on the side walls consisting of a central splayed window flanked by two smaller ones, as well as the combination of the portal with a small round window. The presence of rectangular holes in the façade at Koubba and over the southern entrance at Famagusta indicates that both were originally decorated with a porch or aedicule (possibly something like the Baptistery adjoining Jbail Cathedral); in any case, the westernmost bay of the central nave used as a vestibule is a feature which characterizes the structure of several Crusader buildings, Beirut Cathedral being the most remarkable in the Lebanon. All this evidence makes plausible that the first building campaign was initiated in the last decades of the thirteenth century on the initiative of a group of refugees from the Holy Land, and that it was enlarged not much later, probably in the early fourteenth century, when the Syrian quarter had become one of the most densely-crowded in town.

Just as in most of Lebanese churches, the frescoed decoration in the “Nestorian” church is not ruled by any unified and cohesive program, such as that usually intended for Orthodox churches since the middle-Byzantine era. Even a quick look reveals that they were executed in different periods and by different hands, and that they did not conform to any hierarchical system of decoration, although a more coherent program could have originally embellished the apse area. Unfortunately, many paintings have long since vanished because of the difficulties faced up by the building: abandoned after the fall of Famagusta to the Ottomans in 1571, the church was used as a stable for camels and functioned as a church only once a year, on the occasion of the feast of “Saint George the Exiler” (according to the intitulation, Άγιος Γεώργιος δ’ Εξοιρνός, which was handed down to us); only by 1905 it had become a parish church for the local Greek population. In the 1930s, according to Rupert Gunnis, most of the frescoes described by Enlart in 1899 had already disappeared. In the last decades, as a consequence of the troubled political situation in Cyprus, the church happened to be used as a shelter for refugees and was probably subjected to further damage.

According to both Enlart and Jeffery, the apse displayed the standard theory of holy prelates in the lower register, and a much more unconventional scene in the tribuna, comprising a kind of Traditio clavis with Christ handing down the keys to Saint Peter, and a kind of Majestas Domini. Most probably their identification was wrong, but it is worth mentioning, however, that the Christian communities in Syria always proved to be very conservative as regards iconography and frequently drew on the Early Christian repertory. The apostle Peter was usually given a prominent place within the painted decoration of apses in Lebanese churches, such as at Mar Phokas, Amioun, Mar Tadros, Bahdeidat, and Mar Charbel, Mî‘âd; this may be intended also as a consequence of Peter’s role as the first bishop of Antioch, the ecclesiastical capital of many of the local confessions, a matter of fact that probably explains why Peter is given a central position in some Syriac miniatures representing the Pentecost. Even if we do not accept the traditional view interpreting the Traditio as a properly Western (Roman) motif, we have however no other comparanda at our disposal in the Late Medieval art of both Western and Eastern Christianity. At the other end of the original building, i.e. in the westernmost bay to the right of the entrance, is preserved a frescoed panel whose stylistic features point to further connections with the Syrian mainland. It displays three saints standing in

12 Cruikshank Dodd, op.cit., 32.

13 Gunnis, op.cit. (n. 2), 99.
14 J. Leroy, Les manuscrits syriques à peintures conservés dans les bibliothèques d’Europe et d’Orient, Paris 1964, pl. 126 fig. 2.
15 Such a view has been recently rejected by J.-M. Spieser, Autour de la Traditio legis, Thessaloniki 2004.
rigidly frontal poses (Fig. 3): on the sides are represented two bare-headed and long-bearded holy monks flanking a central female figure, clad in a bluish veil, who holds a medallion including the image of the Crucifix. Such a detail allows us to identify her with Saint Paraskeve, the second-century martyr from Asia Minor who was worshipped as a personification of the Holy Friday and whose image, often found in middle and late Byzantine art, is especially widespread on Cyprus. Syriac inscriptions are still visible next to the heads of both the monk on the left and Paraskeve: according to palaeographical analysis, they prove to be an estranghelo script, originally associated with the Church of the East (or “Nestorian” Church) but employed in the twelfth and thirteenth century by almost all of the Arab Christian communities of Syria. Unfortunately, only the letters on the left of both saints’ heads can be clearly deciphered: they read “qad(isho) mor(y)” (the holy – male – saint) and “qadisho mart(y)” (the holy – female – saint). On the other hand, the standard Greek abbreviations IC XP for “Ἡρωίς Χριστός” are used to qualify the Crucifix within Paraskeve’s medallion. The treatment of such features as hairs and facial details indicate strong links with the style of the mid-thirteenth century frescoed cycles in Ma’ad and Bahdeidat. As recently stated by Erica Cruikshank Dodd, this trend of monumental painting in the Lebanon reflects the style characterizing the frescoes of the Syrian monastery of Mar Musa al-Habashi, dated 1192, and other paintings in Syria (Saints Sergius and Bacchus and Deir Yakub in Qar’a) and should be labelled as specifically Syrian, since it proves to be different from either Byzantine or Western art and to have much more in common with contemporary Muslim painting. The main characteristics of such a stylistic tendency are the predominance of a linear quality in the shaping of the form combined with a strong sense of monumentality. The figures’ frontal stare, as well as the use of regular geometric patterns in the rendering of the body and of strong lines marking the facial features, are found both in the Syro-Lebanese frescoes and in Famagusta. This conclusion is reinforced by such details as the conventional treatment of hairs with uninterrupted black brushstrokes outlining thick curls, the faces’ oval shape, the use of a streak of green paint modelling the physiognomic features (as is still visible in Paraskeve’s neck), and the extremely schematized folds of the garments. The elegant pearl borders decorating the nimbi have been sometimes interpreted as revealing connection with Syria (Qar’a), or alternatively as devices indicating Western influence.
fluence, even if they are often encountered also in Middle-Byzantine frescoes in Cyprus (Trikomo, Asinou, Lagoudera) and elsewhere; most of all, they seem to be archaizing features, dating back to the pre-Ioniclastic era (see, for example, Christ's pearled halo in the apse of San Vitale, Ravenna), which were preserved by the art of the Christian communities in the Middle East: among the most relevant examples, one can recall the recently discovered tenth century frescoes in the Syrian monastery (Deir al-Surian) in the Wadi al-Natrun, Egypt, as well as similar instances in the Dirikli kilise at Belizirma in Cappadocia (10th c.) or in the first layer of frescoes (dated to 991/992) in Agios Panteleimon at Epano Boularioi in the Mani (which, according to Prof. Drandakis' hypothesis, show a Cappadocian style). A homogeneous group of very deteriorated frescoes is scattered on the northern wall of the same bay and seems to be associated with a pointed-arched recess probably meant as a tomb-niche. This structure, whose higher section is decorated with an elegant marble moulding, was originally painted on both its outer and inner parts; traces of paint are to be seen on the extrados, as well as on the right part of the intrados (where the outline of a holy king, possibly David, is still to be seen). Even if its function derived from that of the ancient arcosolia which were also increasingly employed as funerary spaces within the narthexes of Late Byzantine churches, the Gothic-shaped wall niche was an important element of Famagusta's local architecture, since it is found in its Latin, Greek, and Syrian churches. In Western practice, such structures (simply known as 'chapels') were conceived as small liturgical spaces for performing masses for the soul's sake of individual donors and, while unfaithfully including altars, they were not always associated with sepulchres. Lateral altars, however, would probably have contradicted the Eastern Christian principle of the unity of ritual practice, and so there is no doubt that they did function only as funerary places, as is confirmed by the last will dictated in 1453 by a Syrian Orthodox, sir Anthony Audeth, who ordered his heirs to bury his corpse within the chapel he had previously built within the Jacobite church of Nicosia. The nearby images need being read in their association with the chapel-tomb, since all of them seems to stress the role of the Virgin as a special advocate for the human genre seeking salvation in the afterlife. Marian themes are by far the most widespread in the church murals, since a Mother of God Enthroned is still to be seen also on the western side of the south-eastern pier of the second bay, and other figures of the Virgin were noticed by Enlart in 1899; however, nowhere else has been laid so much emphasis on this particular subject. In the fragmentary fresco to the left an orant Mother of God can still be discerned, whereas the Annunciation was originally represented in the spandrels of the niche. Over it is located a very rare composition displaying three personages in frontal orant pose flanked by six scenes now almost completely vanished (Fig. 4). By means of a sketch it has been possible to understand that it originally displayed a type not unlike that known in Late Medieval Italy as sant'Anna Metterza, even if in that iconographic scheme (not witnessed before the fourteenth century) the figures were usually represented enthroned, instead of standing in the orant pose. A medallion with the bust of Christ Emmanuel (symbolizing the pre-Incarnated God) is displayed on His mother's chest, whereas exactly behind Mary is represented Saint Anne in a praying gesture echoing that of the Mother of God; the latter's haloed head happens to be located in just the same position as Christ's medallion. Next to the upper left margin is represented a bowing angel just as in many Marian icons and in the remnant of fresco below. It seems self-evident that the image aimed at emphasizing the divine

21 K. Weitzmann, "Icon Painting in the Crusader Kingdom", DOP 20 (1966), 49-83, esp. 59.
26 Mary and Christ are represented in a rather linear way under a round arch supported, on the right, by a telamon-like figure; over it are displayed two scenes, now almost completely illegible. Enlart, op.cit. (n. 1), 284.
THE "NESTORIAN" CHURCH OF FAMAGUSTA

Fig. 4. Famagusta, “Nestorian” church. Sketch of a fresco displaying Saint Anne and the Virgin Mary "Platytera" flanked by six scenes of Mary’s Infancy (author’s sketch).

conception of Saint Anne by stressing the iconographical analogy of the two figures.

Notwithstanding their bad state of preservation, the side-scenes contain many clues which enable us to identify them as episodes of the Virgin’s Infancy as they were known from the apocryphal Protoevangelion of James: on the lower register to the left, one can still discern the shape of Saint Joachim approached by an angel in the wilderness, while on the right the central and lower scenes originally displayed the Virgin blessed by the priests and Her presentation to the Temple. The narration was probably completed by such episodes as Joachim’s offerings rejected and Joachim and Anne returning home to the left and the Nativity of Mary to the right. By means of such a selection of scenes, the image functioned as an abridged version of the major cycles illustrating Mary’s Life so widespread in Byzantine art in the Palaiologan period, and represented in Cyprus by the mid-fourteenth century frescoes in the Timios Stavros church at Pelendri.

From the late thirteenth through the fourteenth century, analogous cycles were being introduced and developed also in Italian art, as is best evidenced by a painted panel attributed to the “Master of San Martino” and dating back to the 1270s, now preserved in the National Museum in Pisa. As has been noted, this Marian image first seems to appropriate a compositional device traditionally employed in Pisa for images of saints, that of the central figure flanked on the two sides by a selection of scenes, which probably must be understood as a local version of the Byzantine "Vita-icon" (where the scenes usually encircled the holy portrait). Most interestingly, the same device is occasionally found in some borderlands of the Greek world, such as in Northern Macedonia or in Crimea; on Cyprus, it is best witnessed by two huge late thirteenth-century icons preserved in the Byzantine Museum of the Archbishop Makarios III Foundation in Nicosia, one displaying Saint Nicholas and another representing an Enthroned Virgin and Child spreading Her mantle over a group of Carmelite friars.

In Cypriot murals Saint Anne is usually shown alone or coupled with Saint Joachim wearing a red mantle and a green tunic and holding a cross: cf. C.L. Connor, "Female Saints in Church Decoration of the Troodos Mountains in Cyprus", Medieval Cyprus. Studies in Art, Architecture, and History in Memory of Doula Mouriki; N. P. Ševčenko and Ch. Moss (eds), Princeton 1999, 211-40, esp. 218 and fig. 11 (narthex of Asinou).

Basic references on the iconographic features in J. Lafontaine-Dosogne, Iconographie de l’enfance de la Vierge dans l’empire byzantin et en Occident, Brussels 1964, I, 62-9 (Joachim’s Offerings Rejected), 65-7 (Joachim and Anne Returning Home), 77-81 (Saint Joachim in the Wilderness), 91-121 (Nativity of the Virgin), 128-33 (The Virgin Blessed by the Priests), 136-67 (The Presentation of the Virgin to the Temple).


On the Vita-icon, see most recently N. P. Ševčenko, “The Vita Icon and the Painter as Hagiographer”, DOP 53 (1999), 149-65; for the Italianate features of the two Cypriot icons cf. A. Weyl Carr, “Art in the Kingdom of the Lusignan Kings”, II Κέντρος των ευγενεστέρων (n. 2), 242-3 (repr. in ead., Cyprus and the Devotional Arts of Byzantium in the Era of the Crusades, Aldershot 2005, chap. VII); A. Papageorghiou, Εικόνες της Κύπρου, Nicosia 1991, 46-9 and figs 31-2. For a Byzantine case of such a compositional typology cf. L. Milyaeva, “The Icon of Saint George, with Scenes from His Life, from the Town of Mariupol”, 213

http://epublishing.ekt.gr | e-Publisher: EKT | Downloaded at 02/08/2019 18:19:20 |
In Trecento Italy such panels became rare, but their cheaper replicas within the frescoed decorations of church interiors continued to be executed: they were usually meant as means to sponsor and enhance the public worship of a new saint and as a very good device for laypeople seeking to obtain the salvation of their souls; without obeying to any program of united decoration like that used in Byzantine churches, an extraordinary amount of such autonomous, individual images covered the side-walls of naves (where the laypeople were supposed to stay during Mass) and was often physically associated to tombs and chapels for the performance of votive masses. Also the Latin churches of Famagusta displayed several images of this kind, as is best witnessed by the rather chaotic series of frescoed panels which are still to be seen on the walls of the Carmelite church: among them, over an arcosolium-chapel, can still be discerned a full-standing image of Saint Catherine of Alexandria flanked by ten scenes of her life and miracles, being Italianate in style and probably dating to the mid-fourteenth century. The functional analogy of this latter image and the Saint Anne in the “Nestorian” church is enough to suggest that in certain circumstances Western patterns of church decoration, inspired by commonly shared devotional feelings, could be adopted even by non-Latin believers. However, this is only one side of the coin, since if one approaches those parts of the church dating from the second building campaign, a completely different style and iconography is encountered. In the southern aisle, close to the entrance, is displayed a rather huge figure of the Archangel Michael, according to the standard type often found in both Byzantium and Cyprus (cf., among many other instances, the gigantic rendering of Him in the southern wall of the naos at Lagoudera, 1192). To the right of the door are represented a holy monk and the Egyptian martyr Menas in orant pose, with the bust of the Pantokrator included in a medallion on his chest (Fig. 5), whereas the western side of the north-west pier of the central bay is decorated with the figure of a young apostle, possibly Saint Philip (Fig. 6). All of these frescoes are painted in a Palaiologan style of very high quality, which has no such parallels in the decorative programs preserved in other areas of Cyprus. As a matter of fact, for a long time the art made for Greek patrons outside Famagusta remained loyal to the Late Comnenian schemes introduced by the great cycles at the Enkleistra of St Neophyto, at Lagoudera and elsewhere, and, during the last quarter of the thirteenth century, was developed that curious artistic experience, combining East Christian and Western motifs with the local Byzantine tradition, which was labelled by Doula Mouriki as the “maniera cypria”. As scholars have emphasized, the Palaiologan style was first introduced in the fourteenth century, as is best witnessed by a series of painted icons, even if the contemporary monumental decorations, as far as we can observe in the extant cycles (like those at Dali, in part of the decoration of Ayios Niko-

Fig. 5. Famagusta, “Nestorian” church. A holy monk and the martyr Menas, c. 1350-1370 (photo: author).
laos tis Steysis at Kakopetria, in the narthex of Asinou, in the dome of the Panagia Chryseleousa at Strovlos, in the "catacomb" of Ayia Solomon in Paphos, etc.) seem to remain loyal to the tradition established in the twelfth century, and they only occasionally happen to borrow some stylistic motifs from the new artistic trends of the Byzantine mainland. A clear example of the Palaiologan style is encountered in the Timios Stavros church at Pelendri, dating from the third quarter of the fourteenth century: as is especially revealed by the figures of the Evangelists in the spandrels of the dome, the murals display features directly connected with the art of the major centres of the Empire, and seem to be much different from other murals in the church, nearly contemporary but displaying a mixture of traditional Cypriot and Westernizing devices.

Since a considerable number of Palaiologan-style murals is still preserved within the churches of Famagusta, it is reasonable to think that this town must have been the centre of dissemination of such a new trend to the rest of the island; even if their state of preservation is very precarious, they still display many common features which enable us to hypothesize that they were all executed at about the same date by the same hands, those of a team of painters coming from one of the major centres of the Byzantine empire. Since this style is encountered in such different buildings as the Latin conventual church of the Carmelites, the Byzantine-rite cathedral of St George of the Greeks and its small adjacent church, the Maronite chapel of St Anne and the "Nestorian" church, one has to conclude that such masters enjoyed a great success in town and accepted to work for different patrons and religious communities; on the other hand, this points out that the pictorial tradition of Byzantium was still appreciated and reputed to be authoritative even by non-Greek christians.

Whereas the inscriptions of St George’s are in Greek and those of the Maronite church are in Latin, the tituli still readable on the fresco with a holy monk and Saint Menas in the “Nestorian” church display a very elegant and ornate estranghelio script, being much different from that seen on the fresco in the westernmost bay and not unlike that found in twelfth-thirteenth century Syriac manuscripts. The one to the left of the monk’s head reads “qad(isho) m(ory)” (the holy saint), as does that located next to Menas; however, the name “myn” (for Menas) seems to have been attributed to the holy monk, since it is inscribed just to the right of the latter’s face; there is no doubt that such an oddity must be understood as a mistake of the Greek painter who probably happened to write out the wrong inscription of those he had been provided with by his Syrian donors.

It is worth observing that all of the figures are represented staring at the viewer, in a frontal pose that does not look stiff, since it is refined by a light, delicate inclination of the right leg. The folds, best visible in the young apostle’s figure, are intended to reveal the body’s limbs and prove to be imbued with a classicizing quality, also evidenced by the dynamically curling edge of the himation. The facial features indicate a strong plastic rendering, as is best emphasized by the figure of Saint Menas, where an effect of soft modeling is obtained by applying wide greenish shades along the contour lines of the light ochre surface of both his face and neck. This figure displays dark-outlined eyelashes, whose contour is echoed by that of the eyelids, prominent cheekbones emphasized by reddish shadings, and carefully rendered ears, as well as a round-shaped head wearing a greyish hair and beard, both rendered, by means of thin brushstrokes alternating brown and white tones, as small hanks arranged in rows vertically juxtaposed.

The “neo-bellenistic” tone of the image is somewhat reminiscent of the classicizing, monumental trend of the first Palaiologan era, as was best represented by the frescoes in the Protaton at Karyes (1295-1300) known as the work of the semi-legendary Thessalonikan painter Manuil Panselinos, but is different because of some stylistic features, such as the chromatic scale ruling out primary colours and privileging half shades, the taste for effects of luminescence and transparency, or the “expressionist” qualities manifested by the refined movements of the body and its embellishment with jewels and precious garments (as is the case with Menas); a strong realistic accent may also be detected in the rather crude treatment of the ears, which is even further emphasized in the figure of Saint Nicholas in the Carmelite church (Fig. 7)38. The latter should not be mistaken for a Western work of art because of the Roman catholic paraphernalia worn by the holy bishop – an iconographic choice which was perfectly logical for an image meant for a Latin audience – since the treatment of the facial features, as well as of the hair, beard and folds, is perfectly identical with that found in the “Nestorian” church.

Both reveal stylistic features which are best paralleled by Palaiologan frescoes executed in the sixth through the eighth decades of the fourteenth century in Thessaloniki and its area of influence. The monumental decoration of Vlatadon Monastery (ca. 1350-1370), as well as some features of John Theorianos’s mid-fourteenth-century murals in Ohrid, provide good comparanda for the Famagustan frescoes, especially as regards the plastic modelling of the body, its proportions and refined movements, as well as the treatment of both hair and facial features39. Maria Panayiotidi, Chryssanthi Mavropoulou-Tsioumi and Evangelos Kyriakoudis, among others, have pointed out that the above-mentioned cycles were an important step in the development of a new pictorial trend which interpreted the monumental and voluminous style of the late thirteenth and early fourteenth centuries as a classicizing expressionism characterized by linearly-rendered heightenings and affected poses and movements, coupled with a strong realistic treatment of some details (such as ears, fingers, eyes)39.

38 This image, which is still unpublished, is mentioned only by Enlart, op.cit. (n. 1), 271.
Elements of such a trend, being only one of the possible expressions of late Palaiologan “neohellenism” (cf., e.g., the much different style one can recognize in the pictorial and monumental quality of the murals in the Katholikon of the Pantokrator Monastery, dating from 1360-1370\(^\text{41}\)), can be detected also in the fresco displaying Joasaph with Gregory Palamas in St Demetrius in Thessalonik\(\text{42}\), in the murals of the Prophitis Ilias church in the same town (which give even more emphasis to the combination of classicizing and realistic devices\(^\text{43}\)), as well as in a series of icons in the Vlatadon collection, dating from the third quarter of the fourteenth century\(^\text{44}\). Such stylistic connections may indicate that the painters working in the “Nestorian” church in Famagusta had arrived from Thessalonik\(\); however, an origin from Constantinople, whose role in the art of this period remains rather obscure, cannot be ruled out, since scholars have emphasized that, although the classicizing trend of the mature Palaiologan painting is best witnessed by extant cycles in the second town of the Empire and its area of influence, it would be misleading to consider it a local phenomenon\(^\text{45}\). As a matter of fact, however, the murals in the “Nestorian” church reveal the activity of a much experienced and well trained atelier from the Byzantine mainland, and needs being further investigated by means of a thorough publication of the fragmentary murals still preserved within the churches of Famagusta.

Close to the figure of the Archangel Michael is displayed a remnant of fresco whose stylistic features point to another artistic tradition, that of the Latin West (Fig. 8). Against a deep blue (or “ultramarine”) background were originally represented three female figures; that of Saint Mary Magdalene can still be seen on the right, whereas the silhouette of a flying angel holding the edge of a cloth is the only preserved fragment of a major composition which most probably included a Virgin of Mercy spreading Her mantle over a group of worshippers. That the composition was inspired by contemporary Italian art is easily demonstrated by the ornamental band decorating its upper edge, which displays a rather conventional combination of foliage and quadrilobes housing coats-of-arms\(^\text{46}\). The embellishment of the haloes with incised rays is also Italianate, and Magdalene’s loose hair best suits the Westerners’ devotion and taste, even if such detail proves to be uncommon in the iconographic representations of this holy woman\(^\text{47}\).

However, if we accept that this image was done in a “Western” style, we have to ask ourselves who was responsible for


\(^{45}\) Kgriakoudis, op.cit., 102 (with earlier bibliography).


\(^{47}\) Similar motifs, which are to be seen also in the southern apos of Saint George of the Greeks and in Bellapais Abbey, will be repeated in the sixteenth-century cycle in the Latin Chapel of Kalopanagiotic: cf. S. Frigerio-Zeniou, L’art “italo-byzantin” à Chypre au XVe siècle. Trois témoins de la peinture religieuse: Panagia Podithou, la Chapelle Latine et Panagia Iamatikê, Venice 1998, 186.

\(^{47}\) Magdalene is shown either naked with loose hair within a grotto or clad in red garments; a loose hair is also displayed in the scene of the Crucifixion.
its execution. The actual activity of Latin painters in Outremer has been much debated after Hugo Buchthal's and Kurt Weitzmann's pioneering studies in the 1950s and 1960s; since all of the works thought to be “Crusader” antedated the formal innovations worked out in Central Italy and best represented by Giotto's style, such materials cannot be used for our understanding of the strong Gothic qualities of this Famagustan fresco. Italianate devices are sometimes to be found in the major ports of the Aegean and in the Latin-ruled countries of the Levant in the fourteenth century: for example, a figure of Saint Lucy in the church of the Panagia tou Kastrou in Rhodes was most probably executed by an itinerant Italian artist in about 1320, and some remnants of Gothic murals are still to be seen in the porch of Bellapais Abbey and in the Carmelite church in Famagusta. The bad state of preservation of the image prevents us from providing an analytic reading of its style, but it is worth emphasizing that some features, like the treatment of Magdalene's nose and mouth or the rendering of the foliage as slender leaves, seem to reveal some knowledge of Byzantine artistic practice; on the other hand, the holy woman's hair seems to have been inspired by sculptural models like the syrens in one of brackets of the chapter house of Bellapais Abbey (Fig. 9). One wonders if such “mixed” qualities may represent the pictorial tradition of local Latin Cypriot artists, of whom at least one – named Perrottus, i.e. most probably a Francophone – is recorded by a text dating back to the second half of the fourteenth century, Philippe de Mezières' Life of Saint Peter Thomas. Quite interestingly, the most clearly Italianate fresco in Famagusta is preserved within an Arab Christian church, as the evidence of the Syriac inscriptions points out. The image, though commissioned by Latin patrons and made in a Latin pictorial language, was by sure not intended for Western beholders. A small detail, that of the coat-of-arms displayed on the upper edge, helps us to clear up the mystery: they invariably consist of the eight-pointed star which was associated with the Genoese family of the Embriaco-Gibelet, i.e. with the old rulers of the fief of Jbail in the County of Tripoli, whose population had gradually fled to Cyprus during the second half of the thirteenth century. The inhabitants of “Gibelletto” (as Italians used to call it) mainly settled in Famagusta and, as citizens of the Republic of Genoa, they had been granted the same privileges (in such matters as tax and justice administration) they had obtained in their homeland; although many of them were Latin, several others who took advantage from Genoese citizenship (and were known as “White Genoese”) were Arab Christians, Armenians, Jews and even Muslims of Lebanean origin. Such circumstances make plausible that the building functioned as the “national” church of a group of Syriac-rite refugees from Jbail, and the presence of the Gibelet's coats-of-arms points out that they still had strong connections with their

Fig. 8. Famagusta, “Nestorian” church. Fragment of a Virgin of Mercy and Saint Mary Magdalene, first half of the 14th century (photo: author).

---

49 M. Achaimastou-Potamianou, “Ο Μεγάλος Μαγιστράτος της Ρόδου”, ΑΔΕλθ 23 (1968), Meletai, 221-63, esp. 267-8; E. Kollias, Η γεωργική πόλη της Ρόδου και το παλάτι του Μεγάλου Μαγιστράτου, Athens 1994, 117-9 and fig. 61.
50 Enlart, op.cit. (n. 1), 183-4 (Bellapais), 270-4 (Carmelite church in Famagusta).
former rulers (who actually played an important role among the major aristocratic families of the Lusignan Kingdom). This evidence seems to rule out the “Nestorians”. Although Enlart’s proposal has often been used even by scholars dealing with the history of the Church of the East and willing to emphasize its iconolatry (which is mainly demonstrated by figurative documents from Central and Far Eastern Asia)\(^5\), there are enough iconographic clues hinting at a completely different religious confession. First, it is struck by the occurrence of so many saints, since it is known that the Eastern Syrian sanctoral proved to be extremely scarce\(^5\), and never included Menas, whose Egyptian martyrium, according to Coptic sources, had been even diminished and depaupered by some followers of Nestorius working in synergy with the Caliph in the times past\(^5\). Saint Paraskeve should also be regarded as an odd subject for this religious group, whereas Saint Anne, whose scheme probably aimed at visualizing the theological idea of Mary’s Immaculate Conception, seems to be in sharp contrast with the Eastern Syrian believing of the Virgin’s role only as Mother of Christ (as had been stated once again in the “Book of the Tower” written in Famagusta in the 1330s by the “Nestorian” theologian Saliba al-Mawsili\(^5\)).

It is much more likely that the “White Genoese” refugees from Jbail had been Syrian Orthodox or Melkite. The “Jacobite” church, as a consequence of its emphasis on the Son’s divinity, was inclined to accept that Mary ought to be pure and exempt from the original sin since the very moment of Her conception\(^6\), and shared with the Copts a deeply rooted worship for Saint Menas\(^6\). Such details may favour an at-

**Fig. 9. Bellapais Abbey, Chapter House. Bracket decorated with a man and two syrens, first half of the fourteenth century (photo: author).**

**THE “NESTORIAN” CHURCH OF FAMAGUSTA**


51 He was commemorated on November 11: cf. A. Baumstark, Festbrei- vier und Kirchenjahr der syrischen Jacobiten, Paderborn 1910, 199-200. Magdalene was also worshipped, and it is a known fact that the Syrian Orthodox monks who fled to Cyprus already in 1187 had owned the church of Saint Mary Magdalene in Jerusalem: cf. S. Brock, The Hidden Pearl: The Aramaic Heritage, Rome 2001, 158.

52 For some examples see Cruikshank Dodd, Mar Musa (n. 17), figs 52 and 72.

53 P. Mouterde, “Deux inscriptions jacobiennes”, Mélanges de l’Université Saint-Joseph 22 (1939), 49-56. Mouterde considered the foundation-inscription of Mar Bernham to date from the 16th century, but this is contradicted by the earlier mention of the same church in the last will of John Audeth (1451): cf. Richard, “Une famille de de Vénitiens blancs”, op.cit. (n. 25), 112-115.
priated Melkite feasts. On the other hand, the use of Syriac script was common to all of the Arab Christian communities of Syria and Lebanon in that period and cannot by itself reveal the religious community ruling the church-building; however, it is enough to contradict the statement of Friar James of Verona, who wrote in 1335 that the non-Chalcedonian Christians of Famagusta used Greek as their liturgical language: as most Westerners, he was probably unable to understand the difference between Greek and Syriac.

To sum up, several iconographic, palaeographic, and stylistic features point to a strong connection with Arab Christians from the County of Tripoli, being most probably a White Genoese community of Syriac-rite refugees from Jbail/Gibelet. Accordingly, Enlart's identification with the "Nestorian" church must be rejected. Whereas the architectural setting repeats many devices worked out in Outremer, the painted decoration was executed in subsequent periods by painters of very different training and culture: the earliest phase, probably dating back to the late thirteenth or early fourteenth century, is that best represented by the frescoed panel displaying Saint Paraskeve and two holy monks, whose style is that described as specifically Syrian by Erica Cruikshank Dodd; the second phase, that of the Gothic fresco, is difficult to interpret, but it probably does not postdate the mid-fourteenth century and may be attributed to a Latin Cypriot artist; the latest layer of murals must be attributed to a team of Palaiologan painters, possibly from Thessaloniki, who were responsible for the decoration of several churches in Famagusta in ca. 1350-1370.

Michele Bacci

ΣΥΡΙΑΚΕΣ, ΠΑΛΑΙΟΛΟΓΕΙΕΣ ΚΑΙ ΓΟΤΘΙΚΕΣ ΤΟΙΧΟΓΡΑΦΙΕΣ ΣΤΟΝ «ΝΕΣΤΟΡΙΑΝΟ» ΝΑΟ ΤΗΣ ΑΜΜΟΧΩΣΤΟΥ

Οι μεσαιωνικοί ναοί της Αμμοχώστου διακόσμησαν αρκετά κατάλληλα το αρχικό τοιχογραφικό τους δια­κόσμημα, κατά κανόνα συνολικού αποτελέσματος αναφερόμενο και με άμεση ανάγκη συντήρησής. Ενδοχώρα οι καλλιτέχνες χρηματοδοτούνταν από την εκκλησία ή με τις θεολογικές πεποιθήσεις των χριστιανών της ανατολικής Συρίας, ενώ η απόδοση τους σε μία κοινότη­τα Μελκιτών ή Δυτικών Σύρων από τον Λίβανο μοιάζει πιο πιθανή, όπως δηλώνει και η παρουσία των οικογένειας της βασιλικής οικογένειας των Jbail (Λίβανος).

Στον διάκοσμο του ναού διαφέρονται τουλάχιστον τρεις φάσεις: η πρώτη χρονολογείται στον ύστερο 13ο-πρώιμο 14ο αιώνα και μπορεί να αποδοθεί σε ζωγράφο από την ενδοχώρα της Συρίας, η δεύτερη μπορεί να συνδεθεί με κάποιο Λατίνο ζωγράφο από την Κύπρο, ο οποίος εργάστηκε στο πρώτο μισό του 14ου αιώνα, ενώ τις τελευταίες γνωστές μορφές αγίων, των οποίων το τεχνοτροπικό διακόσμημα αναφερόμενον στην Αμμοχώστου και χρήζει επισταμένης έρευνας.

---